**Brief of Appellant** 

Filed 01-20-2021

Page 1 of 25

RECEIVED 01-20-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## COURT OF APPEALS

## **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2020AP001808 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

ERIC D. BOURGEOIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of Final Order Entered October 26, 2020 Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Laura Lau Presiding, in Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 16-CF-929

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

James A. Walrath State Bar No. 1012151 324 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1410 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 202-2300

#

### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Did "exigent circumstances" exist to support the forcible and warrantless police entry into Bourgeois' locked hotel room and a seizure of a firearm, which led to his subsequent arrest and prosecution for threatening an officer and stealing the gun?

Following an evidentiary hearing (R. 101), Circuit Judge Dreyfus ruled that the police entry was justified under the "exigent circumstances" exception to the warrant requirement. (A. App 103-115).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant does not request oral argument because, consistent with Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(b), the written arguments can fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is permitted under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eric D. Bourgeois was convicted of two Class H felonies: threatening a law enforcement officer (Count 1) and theft of movable property (Count 3). On October 2, 2019 the court withheld imposition of a sentence and placed defendant on probation for four years (with 90 days condition time stayed) as to Count 1 and ordered a \$294.30 forfeiture on Count 3. (R. 114).

Count 1 had charged that on July 12, 2016 Bourgeois threatened to harm a police officer, Jason Steinbrenner, when Steinbrenner arrested him and placed him in handcuffs at the duplex where Bourgeois lived in the upper unit. Steinbrenner had arrested Bourgeois for stealing a firearm from the tenant who lived downstairs. Police had previously seized that pistol

based on a warrantless entry into the hotel room where Bourgeois had been staying. Count 3 charged Bourgeois with theft of that firearm. (R.2, 13).

Prior to trial the defense sought to suppress any evidence that constituted "the fruits" of the warrantless entry, and seizure of the firearm. (R. 24, 25, 27). The defense argued that the forcible, warrantless hotel room entry was not supported by probable cause and exigent circumstances. Judge Dreyfus held an evidentiary motion hearing on October 19, 2017 (R. 101) and denied the motion in an oral ruling on December 14, 2017. (R. 102; A. App. 103-115).

The trial was conducted before Circuit Judge Laura Lau. (R. 112, 113). Bourgeois' motion for postconviction relief requested, in part, that Judge Lau rule that exigent circumstances had not been proven. (R. 76). Judge Lau, however, declined to reconsider the motion to suppress or Judge Dreyfus' ruling, and denied Bourgeois' postconviction relief motion (R. 81; A. App. 101-102).

# STATEMENT OF MOTION TO SUPPRESS HEARING FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On July 12, 2016 the West Milwaukee Police Department (WMPD) was contacted by the Mukwonago Police Department to help locate Eric Bourgeois. (R. 101: 6; A. App. 104). WMPD was asked "to locate, stop, hold and advise if [it] found him, and [a] stolen gun." (R. 101:6). WMPD was advised that Bourgeois might be suffering from PTSD and depression for which he on medication and receiving treatment at the Veteran's Administration Center in West Milwaukee. (R. 101: 7; A. App. 105). WMPD was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Record references in parentheses relate to the transcript of the motion to suppress hearing on October 19, 2017 (denoted as "R. 101") and the findings of fact in Judge Dreyfus' oral ruling on the motion to suppress (R. 102) on December 14, 2017 (denoted as "A. App.").

aware that a Best Western hotel was located across the street from the V.A. Center and that individuals with treatment appointments often will stay at that hotel. (R. 101: 7; A. App. 105).

WMPD confirmed that Bourgeois was a V.A. Center patient, but that he did not have an immediate appointment in the next day or two, and instead his next appointment was approximately two weeks later. (R. 101: 8; A. App. 103). WMPD also confirmed that Bourgeois was staying at the Best Western in room 205. (R. 101: 8; A. App. 105-106).

Several WMPD police officers then went to the hotel and obtained a key card from a person in charge "to attempt to gain access" to room 205. (R. 101: 6; A. App. 103). After officers obtained the key card and went down a hallway, they observed a "Do Not Disturb" sign on the door to room 205 and that the room was quiet. (R. 101: 21). But the key card did not work or allow them to open the door. (R. 101: 9; A. App. 106). Officers then began knocking on the door to alert Bourgeois that they were there. But they did not get a response and they could not hear anything. (R. 101: 9-10; A. App. 107).

WMPD officers then obtained a master key. (R. 101: 10; A. App. 107) and were able to open the door slightly, but it could not be opened fully because a chain lock kept it from opening beyond a few inches. (R. 101: 10; A. App. 107). Looking in, officers could see a fully-clothed individual, who they believed to be Bourgeois, in the darkened room lying on top of the bed. (R. 101: 10; A. App. 107). When they called to him, he did not respond. (R. 101: 10; A. App. 107). After officers called out to Bourgeois a few times to come talk to them, Bourgeois got out of bed and walked to the door where officers saw that he was unarmed. (R. 101: 23). WMPD Lieutenant Vanderlinden observed that at this point Bourgeois "really hadn't done anything in [his] presence that would sort

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-20-2021 Page 8 of 25

of alarm [him]." (Id.) Bourgeois eventually came to the door. (R. 101: 11; A. App. 107).

While talking with him, officers asked if they could come in, but Bourgeois indicated that he was not going to let them in. He then he walked back into the room and did not respond further. (R. 101: 12; A. App. 108).

At this point in time, officers decided to enter the room forcibly by breaking the chain. (R. 101: 12; A. App. 108). When they did, there was some struggle with Bourgeois, but they soon handcuffed him. (R. 101: 12; A. App. 108). Bourgeois made threats to harm the officers and made a remark about "Dallas," where there had been recent police shootings. (R. 101: 13; A. App. 108). While getting Bourgeois in custody, they were able to see a gun partially under the sheets or covers, which they seized, along with his belongings, which included a duffle bag with two knives and medications that were prescribed for Bourgeois. (R. 101: 14-15; A. App. 108).

Because Bourgeois also threatened to harm himself, officers transported him to the V.A. Center, across the street, but the center would not accept him. (R. 101: 17; A. App. 109). They then transported him to the Milwaukee County mental health center where he was admitted. (R. 101: 17; A. App. 109).

Before the police forced entry into the hotel room, Bourgeois did not do anything overt (A. App. 109) to threaten the police or to harm himself. (A. App. 109) and he made it clear that he just was not going to talk to them and was not going to release the chain lock. (A. App. 109). Officers had did not attempted to obtain a warrant authorizing them to enter Bourgeois' hotel room or to search his belongings.

## STATEMENT OF TRIAL FACTS<sup>2</sup>

On July 10, 2016 SC reported a situation that was concerning to her to the Mukwonago Police Department (MPD). She stated that she heard from Bourgeois' family that they had lost contact with Eric and that he had made suicidal statements in the past, so the family was concerned. (R. 112: 112-113, 124). There was no information about how long Eric had been out of contact with his family or about when he had last made suicidal statements. The information did not include any claim that Eric had made suicidal statements recently.

SC and Bourgeois were both Army Veterans and had served in Iraq and Afghanistan, and they lived in a duplex's lower and upper units, respectively, in Mukwonago. This was a convenient living arrangement because it permitted Eric and SC to share child-care responsibilities by watching each other's kids (Id. at 107).

SC stated that Bourgeois had been diagnosed with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and had received treatment at the VA Medical Center in Milwaukee. (Like Bourgeois, SC suffered from PTSD and anxiety, and she too had prescription drugs to treat her conditions.)<sup>3</sup>

In July of 2016 were you prescribed any medication?

A Yes.

Q Do you remember what those were?

Q Okay. Were you also prescribed a narcotic painkiller?

A Yes. I had earlier that year.

Q What was that?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Record references in parentheses relate to the transcript of the trial on July 30, 2019 (denoted as "R. 112")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> SC testified:

A Clonazepam. There was Ofloxacin. There was another one. I can't remember the name of it. And Trazodone. These medications are to help with my anxiety, PTSD and my sleeping disorder.

SC owned firearms and was very familiar with them. She even slept with a .9mm pistol in her bed as a force of habit after leaving the military. (Ironically, this was exactly where the police eventually found SC's firearm when it was in Bourgeois' possession: on his bed at the Best Western hotel across the street from the VA Center.)

MPD officers responded to SC's call by going to the duplex to do a "welfare check." There, officers talked with Bourgeois, and they observed nothing to indicate that he was suicidal or that he fit criteria for a Chapter 51 commitment. (Id. at 115). Bourgeois came out on his balcony, spoke with the officers, and advised them that he was "fine," that he "didn't need help," and that he "wasn't going to hurt himself." (Id. at 174). Officers did not ask him if he had any weapons. Bourgeois then called a cab and left, indicating that

A I had Percocet or -- no, hydrocodone. And I had Dilaudid. (Id. at 110).

I had a 20-gauge shotgun, I had a .410 shotgun, I had a 20 -- two 22s, and I had one called a Crickett 22. It is for kids to use. As well as my Ruger 22, my 38 X 6 rifle, my 1911 .45 pistol, my Magnum Research] pistol as well as my Springfield concealed carry pistol that I carry, which is also a 9 millimeter". (Id. at 110)

At one point, due to there was a pedophile in the area, for safety reasons me and him discussed about him having my shotgun upstairs for a little bit, but that was taken out of his residence and back downstairs into my residence." (Id. at 111)

 $[M] y \ concealed \ carry \ pistol, \ I \ kept \ that \ underneath \ -- \ in$  between the mattresses underneath where  $I \ slept.$ 

Q Okay. Why did you keep it there?

A Just in case there was any intruders. Tactical training. I had two small children. It was just -- just force of habit for in the military you are used to having your firearm close to you. And that's what I always did. (Id. at 111)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> She testified:

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-20-2021 Page 11 of 25

he planned to see his counselor in Milwaukee at the VA Medical Center. (Id. at 116, 174-175).

Later, at about approximately 4:00 p.m. that day, SC reported to the MPD that after the defendant had left in the cab, she discovered that her 9mm pistol was missing from her belongings. She then went upstairs and entered Bourgeois' residence and found her shotgun. SC reported that she believed that Bourgeois had taken the pistol and might have taken her cell phone and her prescription medicines, without her permission. (Id. at 117). (She did not provide any information, however, to indicate what location Bourgeois had likely taken the missing items to, or that she had done an exhaustive search to see if the items had been hidden somewhere on the duplex premises. Nor did she provide information as to any behavior patterns that suggested that Bourgeois would likely have transported them to any particular location away from the duplex, or that he would have kept them in close reach, wherever he had gone.)

After tracing where Bourgeois had traveled in the cab, MPD officers learned from the West Milwaukee Police Department (WMPD) that he had not checked into the VA Medical Center but had been dropped off at the Best Western Hotel which was located directly across the street. MPD therefore asked WMPD to locate Bourgeois.

About a day and a half later, on July 12, 2016, at approximately 1:46 a.m., WMPD officers checked with the Best Western to see if the defendant had checked in and they learned that he had. (Id. at 149).

(The activities of WMPD officers at the Best Western hotel, leading to Bourgeois' arrest and seizure of SC's gun were described above.).

WMPD notified MPD of Bourgeois' arrest, but MPD advised that it would not accept custody of Bourgeois because it only wanted SC's firearm back. So WMPD officers took

Bourgeois, while he continued to make threatening statements towards them to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center (MCMHC) for an emergency detention. (R. 112: 151). After a psychiatrist at the MCMHC concluded that Bourgeois should not be admitted, WMPD officers then gave Bourgeois a ride back to his residence in Mukwonago.

But later, MPD officers, who included Officer Steinbrenner, were again called to the duplex by SC because Bourgeois had been verbally abusive towards her after WMPD officers had released him. This time, when officers found Bourgeois at the duplex, they decided to arrest him for theft of SC's firearm. (There was no evidence presented that they had planned to arrest him for any prior sort of harsh language he had previously used towards officers.) Steinbrenner and two other officers grabbed Bourgeois' arm and wrestled with him so that he could be handcuffed, and they then held him to initiate a Ch. 51 emergency mental health detention (Id. at 162, 178, 195).

While Officer Steinbrenner assisted in Bourgeois' arrest and handcuffed him, Bourgeois was boisterous and argumentative, just as he had been in the prior police encounter at the hotel, and he banged his head against a glass storm door. Bourgeois complained about his arrest, stating "This was all bullshit." (Id. at 178). When officers took Bourgeois to the driveway, he continued to yell, curse, and was boisterous, and he stated to Steinbrenner that Dallas was nothing and he was "going to kill them all." (Id.)<sup>5</sup>

Q Were you threatened by Mr. Bourgeois's words?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Officer Steinbrenner testified:

A *Not immediately*, because he was in custody. I didn't feel -- *I know that he was not going to be able to do anything to harm us at that time* as he had been handcuffed. In the back of my mind I wondered what happened after he had been released, if he would try to perpetuate some type of retaliation against us.

Steinbrenner nonetheless continued to talk with Bourgeois and calmed him down. Bourgeois became cooperative and apologized for his abusive statements and the statement he made about Dallas. He stated it was out of line and that he went overboard. Bourgeois told Steinbrenner that he would never do anything to kill police and he was wrong for saying that. 6

#### ARGUMENT

## I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This court reviews the denial of a motion to suppress under a two-prong analysis. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶22, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775. First, this Court will review the circuit court's findings of historical fact and will uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous. Second, this

(Id. at 179).

I also know people with mental health issues perpetuate with violent acts as well, so I don't know exactly what was behind Mr. Bourgeois' statements, if there was some truth to that or, as you were saying, just spouting off (Id. at 188).

<sup>6</sup> Officer Steinbrenner testified:

Q After a while he calmed down. Right?

A He did.

Q Even apologized. Did he not?

A He did.

Q He said he was out of line and he went overboard?

A He did

Q He indicated he would never do anything to kill the police?

A Correct.

(Id. at 190).

Court will review the application of constitutional principles to those facts *de novo*. *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625.

II. THE FORCIBLE, WARRANTLESS POLICE ENTRY INTO BOURGEOIS' HOTEL ROOM, WHICH LED TO HIS ARREST AND A POLICE SEIZURE OF THE FIREARM, EXCEEDED THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS AGAINST UNREASONABLE ARRESTS, SEARCHES AND SEIZURES.

Bourgeois' appeal goes to the basic constitutional proposition that warrantless searches and seizures are the exception and not the rule under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Constitution.<sup>7</sup> Wisconsin The presumption unreasonableness that attaches to warrantless searches and seizures flows, in part, from the Framers' trust that the important decision, of whether there are good reasons for government agents to invade one's privacy, should reside, in the main, only after objective inquiry by the judiciary. For these reasons, warrantless searches or seizures inside a home or hotel room are "presumptively unreasonable." Welch v. Wisconsin. 466 U.S. 740, 749 (1984).

This warrant requirement is the buffer that should have protected Bourgeois from zealous West Milwaukee Police officers.

The point of the Fourth Amendment, which often is not grasped by zealous officers, is not that it denies law enforcement the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This brief will refer, for brevity, to the federal and state protections against warrantless police entries as "Fourth Amendment" protections. Trial counsel's motion to suppress (R. 24) and supporting briefs (R. 27), cited both the federal and state constitutional provisions as grounds for suppression of the Bourgeois' arrest and the seizures of evidence from his hotel room.

support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the oft competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime .... The right of officers to thrust themselves into a home is ... a grave concern, not only to the individual but to a society which chooses to dwell in reasonable security and freedom from surveillance.

Johnson v. United States, 333 U.S. 10, 13-14 (1948).

It is indisputable that Fourth Amendment protections extended to the privacy of a Bourgeois' hotel room, just as they would protect any private residence, so that the warrant requirement generally applied. *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 301 (1966) ("A hotel room can clearly be the object of Fourth Amendment protection as much as a home or an office."); *United States v. Jeffers*, 342 U.S. 48, 51-52 (1951) (unlawful hotel room entry); *United States v. Johnson*, 333 U.S. 10 1948) (unlawful hotel room entry and subsequent arrest).

Defense counsel argued that the forcible, warrantless hotel room entry was not supported by probable cause or by the "exigent circumstances" exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement, and that the hotel room entry and seizures tainted the collected evidence, and Bourgeois' subsequent arrest based on that evidence.

Judge Dreyfus did not specifically rule on whether the police lacked probable cause, but he impliedly made such a finding, stating:

Certainly, the information that they had was that -- one, that he was suffering from mental health issues, PTSD, potentially depression, that he had drugs, that though may be appropriate to treat the conditions, can also be subject to abuse. ... And most importantly, that [he] may have had a stolen firearm which creates a very real risk of danger, both to him, as well as given the law enforcement. ... [U]ltimately, they found the firearm in fact where it had apparently, been in the bed with Mr. Bourgeois, where he had been lying when the police first had contact with him....

(R. 101: 10-11).

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-20-2021 Page 16 of 25

The court went on to rule that exigent circumstances justified the police to enter without first obtaining a search warrant because there was the *potential* that Bourgeois would harm himself or the police (Id. at 11-12):

[G]iven the information of an individual having what may be defined as a mental health issue, having access to drugs and having access to a firearm is a recipe for disaster. And as I said, anything that they would have done, even if they -- in order to obtain a search warrant which would have taken some time, be -- would have certainly, allowed for Mr. Bourgeois to have done any number of things, including potentially, harm them, potentially harm himself. And there would have been no time for them to have addressed it. I'm satisfied that there were exigent circumstances to protect Mr. Bourgeois from harm and as well as themselves, that if they did not in -- not do anything immediately, it would result in very real *potential harm* occurring.

## (Emphasis added.)

The exigent circumstances finding was not justified or supported by the evidence or the relevant law. While there are exceptions to this warrant requirement, they are "jealously and carefully drawn" and "the burden rests with those seeking exemption to prove that the exigencies made that course imperative." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983) (citations omitted).

The nature of the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement has been more precisely spelled out in *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, 139 S. Ct. 2525, 2537 (2019). The exception is directly tied a compelling law enforcement need to act immediately which overrides the option of obtaining a search warrant. In *Mitchell* the Court emphasized how that compelling need to act must be so urgent that the time needed to obtain a search warrant would prevent effective law enforcement action, if delayed. When emergency assistance is at stake, a warrantless search is permissible when "there is compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant." 139 S. Ct. at 2534 (internal citation omitted).

Recently, this Court discussed this point:

[T]he final factor enunciated in *Mitchell* . . . is whether law enforcement 'could not have reasonably judged that a warrant application would interfere with other pressing needs or duties.' *See Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2539. . . . Richards' severe injuries, safety needs at the accident scene, and the tight window of time before Richards was taken away by helicopter did not allow law enforcement to both obtain a search warrant and meet "other pressing needs or duties."

Page 17 of 25

State v. Richards, 2020 WI App 48, ¶¶45-46, 48, 393 Wis. 2d 772, 792, 948 N.W.2d 359, 369.

These points in *Mitchell* and *Richards* reinforce the argument that Bourgeois' trial counsel (and now appellate counsel) have made. There was no injured party for the police to deal with at the Best Western. There were no apparent and urgent safety needs (indeed they did not know whether he had taken a firearm to the hotel). There was no likelihood that Bourgeois was about to disappear from the hotel.

It is beyond dispute that Judge Dreyfus based his decision to deny the motion to suppress on the *emergency* assistance test. But his other findings completely undercut his reasoning. That is because he explicitly found that there was no evidence of an *immediate* need to render assistance to Bourgeois:

Now, it's clear that at least in terms of their presence, he didn't do anything overt. And the -- At least in terms of their initial contact at the door, didn't -- There's no testimony that he threatened the police or even if he necessarily threatened harm to himself at that time. But that he just simply wasn't going to talk to them and wasn't going to release the chain. And as I understand it, in fact also, not that he wasn't going to release the chain but also, then didn't do anything to close the door and proceeded to turn around and walk -- just walk back into the bedroom at which point as indicated, they forcibly entered the room and grabbed him.

(R. 101: 7).

Exigent circumstances under the objective "emergency assistance" test requires the court to determine whether evidence showed that "a reasonable person would have

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-20-2021 Page 18 of 25

believed that: (1) there was an *immediate* need to provide aid or assistance to a person due to actual or threatened physical injury; and (2) that *immediate* entry into an area in which a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy was necessary in order to provide that aid or assistance." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 450-52, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983). (Emphasis added.).

Nothing in the facts presented to Judge Dreyfus indicated an immediate need to assist Bourgeois (who calmly came to the hotel room door after being awakened) because of actual or threatened injury, especially because nearly two days had passed after SC's first vague concerns arose. Moreover, nothing was presented to justify an immediate entry because the police had no information arising from police observations at the hotel that Bourgeois needed assistance. The vague information from SC to the police that Bourgeois suffered from PTSD (ironically, just as she did) and that he might be in possession of a firearm (just as she was) did not make the situation more risky or dangerous, much less emergent.

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