FILED
04-08-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP1808-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC D. BOURGEOIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE LAURA F. LAU PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA K. BICE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1058115

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court correctly concluded that exigent circumstances not of the officers' making existed to justify the warrantless search.

#### A. Standard of review.

When a defendant appeals an order denying a motion to suppress, a question of constitutional fact is presented. *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶ 15, 233 Wis. 2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621. The reviewing court must "uphold a circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous" but "then independently apply the law to those facts *de novo*." *Id*.

#### B. Principles of law.

Warrantless entry.

"A police officer's warrantless entry into a private residence is presumptively prohibited by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and article I, section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution." *Hughes*, 233 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 17 (footnote omitted). "The protection afforded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> He also sought to vacate the conviction on Count 1, threatening a law enforcement officer, on the grounds that it was not supported by sufficient evidence. (R. 76:14–15.) He has not pursued that claim on appeal.

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 11 of 18

by these provisions extends to hotels and motels as well as to homes." *State v. Munroe*, 2001 WI App 104, ¶ 7, 244 Wis. 2d 1, 630 N.W.2d 223.

The exigent circumstances exception.

However, "[a] warrantless search does not violate the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution if the search is conducted with consent or is justified by exigent circumstances." State v. Reed, 2018 WI 109, ¶ 7, 384 Wis. 2d 469, 920 N.W.2d 56 (footnotes omitted). "[U]nder the exception for exigent circumstances, a warrantless search is allowed when 'there is compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant." Mitchell v. Wisconsin, 139 S. Ct. 2525, 2534 (2019) (citation omitted).

A situation where there is "a threat to the safety of a suspect or others" is one of the "four well-recognized categories of exigent circumstances that have been held to authorize a law enforcement officer's warrantless entry into a home." *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 29, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29. "The State bears the burden of proving the existence of exigent circumstances." *Id*.

"The exigent circumstances inquiry is limited to the objective facts reasonably known to, or discoverable by, the officers at the time of the entry." *State v. Kiekhefer*, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 476, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997). "When a police officer is confronted with two reasonable competing inferences, one that would justify the search and another that would not, the officer is entitled to rely on the reasonable inference justifying the search." *State v. Mielke*, 2002 WI App 251, ¶ 8, 257 Wis. 2d 876, 653 N.W.2d 316.

A reviewing court "do[es] not apply hindsight to the exigency analysis; [it] consider[s] only the circumstances known to the officer at the time he made the entry and

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 12 of 18

evaluate[s] the reasonableness of the officer's action in light of those circumstances." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 43.

"[W]hat is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government—whether the magistrate issuing a warrant . . . or the police officer conducting a search or seizure under one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement—is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable." *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 185 (1990).

## C. The warrantless entry was justified by the exigency of a threat to the safety of Bourgeois or others.

The warrantless entry into Bourgeois's hotel room was justified by the circumstances because there was "a threat to the safety of a suspect or others." See Richter, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 29. The "objective facts reasonably known to" Vanderlinden were that Bourgeois was a military veteran who had PTSD and "issues with drug use," and that he "may be in possession of a stolen 9-millimeter handgun." (R. 101:7.) See Kiekhefer, 212 Wis. 2d at 476. In addition, Vanderlinden had been informed that Bourgeois was staying at the Best Western near the VA Hospital even though he did not have an appointment there for two weeks. When Vanderlinden was asked to explain his thinking going into the situation, he answered, "I was a little worried about officer safety when knocking on the door right away. . . . If he was in possession of a stolen weapon, didn't have an appointment at the V.A. for 2 weeks and had PTS and drug issues, kind of wondered why he was in there with a weapon." (R. 101:9.)

This Court "consider[s] only the circumstances known to the officer at the time he made the entry and evaluate[s] the reasonableness of the officer's action in light of those circumstances." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 43. The possibility that Bourgeois may not have harmed anyone including

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 13 of 18

himself if the police had delayed their entry does not defeat the reasonableness of the officer's actions. Here, the inference that there was a threat to Bourgeois's safety or the safety of others in the hotel—including the police themselves—is a reasonable one regardless of how the situation looks in hindsight. *See Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. at 185. Vanderlinden was thus entitled to rely on the inference to support the search. *See Mielke*, 257 Wis. 2d 876, ¶ 8.

Our supreme court has affirmed warrantless entries based on such inferences, recognizing that "[i]n the course of investigating crimes in progress and pursuing fleeing suspects, police officers are often called upon to make judgments based upon incomplete information." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 40. Where "[t]he exigency at issue . . . is the threat to physical safety," police officers are not bound to wait for perfect information:

To require a police officer in this situation to have affirmative evidence of the presence of firearms or known violent tendencies on the part of the suspect before acting to protect the safety of others is arbitrary and unrealistic and unreasonably handicaps the officer in the performance of one of his [or her] core responsibilities.

#### $Id. \ \P \ 40.$

The exigent circumstances warrant exception is thus intended to give officers authority to "act[] to protect the safety of others" in certain cases even before they have all the "affirmative evidence." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 40.

Similarly, in *State v. Kirby*, 2014 WI App 74, ¶ 18, 355 Wis. 2d 423, 851 N.W.2d 796, this Court considered an officer's warrantless entry into an apartment during an investigation of a fight. While in the apartment talking with five men, the officer received a phone call informing her that there was a sawed-off shotgun and a handgun inside a black backpack in the apartment, and she noticed the backpack on

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 14 of 18

a loveseat. *Id.* ¶ 9. Kirby challenged the warrantless search of the apartment, but this Court concluded that "exigent circumstances that developed during this investigation justified the warrantless search and seizure of the backpack with the sawed-off shotgun in it." *Id.* ¶ 18. This Court added, "Importantly, even had the officer been *outside* the threshold of the apartment instead of having crossed over it, this new information would havecreatedthesamecircumstances justifying entry into the apartment to see if there was a black backpack . . . like the one described." Id. ¶ 18 (emphasis added).

The holdings and reasoning in *Kirby* and *Richter* support the conclusion that Vanderlinden's decision to cross the threshold into Bourgeois's hotel room without first obtaining a warrant was supported by exigent circumstances.

## D. Bourgeois's arguments are unpersuasive because they fail to apply the relevant law.

Bourgeois argues that the circuit court's conclusion that exigent circumstances existed was "not justified or supported by the evidence or the relevant law." (Bourgeois' Br. 12.) His arguments are unpersuasive because they are based on cases that deal with warrant exceptions that are not applicable to these facts.

First, he relies on *Mitchell* and *Richards*, both OWI warrantless blood draw cases in which the exigent circumstances are caused by the risk of destruction of evidence, namely the dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream over time. *See Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2536; *State v. Richards*, 2020 WI App 48, ¶ 20, 393 Wis. 2d 772, 948 N.W.2d 359. Comparing the facts here to those cases, he argues that "[t]here was no injured party for the police to deal with at the Best Western." (Bourgeois's Br. 13.) True; the exigent circumstances here were caused by other facts.

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 15 of 18

He also relies on *Boggess*, an "emergency assistance" or "emergency aid" warrant exception case that involved an intervention to rescue severely abused children. *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 447, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983) (applying "the emergency rule exception" to the warrant requirement). In that case our supreme court upheld an officer's warrantless entry to a home on the grounds that "a reasonable person would have believed that there was an immediate need to render aid or assistance to the children due to actual or threatened physical injury, and that there was an immediate need for entry into the home to provide aid or assistance to them." *Id.* at 445.

Those cases bear no resemblance to a threat-to-safety exigent circumstances analysis. The State has never argued that the warrantless entry was justified by the destruction-of-the-evidence exigency or the emergency rule exception. This is a threat-to-safety exigent circumstances case, but Bourgeois makes no attempt to address cases such as *Richter* and *Kirby* that apply a threat-to-safety exigency analysis.

Finally, Bourgeois erroneously states that the circuit court "was presented with three, limited facts about what officers knew before they forcibly entered," and the three facts were Bourgeois's PTSD diagnosis, the fact that he might possess a stolen gun, and "that at some unknown time in the past he had expressed suicidal thoughts." (Bourgeois's Br. 15.) That is not true. The transcript of the suppression motion hearing makes no mention whatsoever that officers were aware of prior reports of suicidal ideation or threats. The third fact known to officers was that Bourgeois had "issues with drug use." Contrary to Bourgeois's argument, there is no evidence in the record that at the time of the warrantless entry, the officers knew Bourgeois had a history of suicidal ideation or relied on that. Bourgeois's efforts to distinguish State v. Horngren, 2000 WI App 177, 238 Wis. 2d 347, 617 N.W.2d 508 (applying the community caretaker doctrine in a

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 16 of 18

suicide threat case), are without relevance because that case is also inapposite.

## E. Any remedy is limited to a new trial on Count 3, the gun theft charge.

In his brief to this Court, Bourgeois states without explanation that if he prevails on his suppression motion argument, his "convictions should be vacated" and asks that this Court direct that "all fruits of the illegal entry and arrest and seizures be excluded from evidence, if there is a new trial on either or both counts." (Bourgeois's Br. 17 (emphasis added).)

If this Court concludes that the warrantless entry was not justified by exigent circumstances, Bourgeois is entitled to remand with an order to grant the suppression motion and a new trial on the gun theft charge without the unlawfully obtained (as alleged) evidence. Because Bourgeois abandoned his challenge to his conviction on the charge of threatening a law enforcement officer, that conviction is unaffected by any decision on exigent circumstances. He has forfeited any relief from that conviction on direct appeal.

Case 2020AP001808 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-08-2021 Page 17 of 18

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying Bourgeois' postconviction motion.